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1. Name

historic

Fort Street Historic District

and/or common N/A

2. Location

T4h

“An-area roughly bounded by Fort, State, Sdmeh, and ' LT h 55,

street & number Sixteenth streets N/A_ not for publication
city, town Boise N/A vicinity of Tongressionaidistrive
state Idaho code 016 county Ada code 01
3. Classification
Category Ownership Status Present Use
X district — public _X_ occupied ____agriculture —___ museum
— building(s) _ private — unoccupied _X_commercial — park
__ structure _X both ____work in progress _X_educational _X private residence
____site Public Acquisition Accessible ____entertainment _X reiigious
___ object N/Ain process —___yes: restricted —__ government ___ scientific
N/A being considered X yes: unrestricted — industrial — transportation
——no — military — other:
4. Owner of Property
name Multiple ownership
street & number N/A
city, town N/A N/_A vicinity of state N/A
5. Location of Legal Description
courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. Ada County Courthouse
street & number 650 Main Street
city, town Boise state ~ Idaho 83702
6. Representation in Existing Surveys
titte Idaho State Historic Sites Inventory has this property been determined eligible? _yes _X no
date 1972 _ federal _X state ___ county ___local
depository for survey records Idaho State Historical Society
city, town Boise state Idaho




7. Description

Condition Check one Check one

___excellent ___deteriorated _X_ unaltered X original site

X good —__ruins _X_ altered ___moved date _ N/A
—fair ____ unexposed

Describe the present and original (if known) physical appearance

The Fort Street Historic District is made up of 318 buildings in a 47-block area
of the Boise City Original Townsite directly to the north of the central business
district of Boise. The structures in the district are primarily residential:
single-family dwellings, multi-family dwellings, and small- and medium sized
apartment buildings. The district also contains numerous public and semi-private
institutions: seven churches, three schools and their related buildings, the
school district administration building, the Young Men's Christian Association,
and the old Carnegie Library. In addition to the older buildings of the district
there are a number of contemporary office and apartment buildings whose style is
not compatible with the overall character of the district.

The predominant residential architectural style is late Queen Anne showing the
influence of the colonial revival. There are also numerous bungalows and box-type
houses as well as dwellings that have their origins in the vernacular tradition.
The Romanesque Revival, Neo-Classical Revival, colonial revival, and art deco
styles find representation in the churches, schools, and other public buildings.
The majority of the houses are one and a half to two stories in height and of
brick, sandstone, and frame construction. Many of the larger buildings (churches
and schools) are clustered at the southern boundary of the district, providing a
transition from the large commercial structures of downtown to the smaller resi-
dential buildings of the district. While there is considerable variety in the
architectural styles and size of the buildings in the district, the area maintains
its visual and historic cohesiveness.

The four principal streets of the Fort Street Historic District--Fort, Hays,
Franklin, and Washington—--are wide and lined with mature trees. The houses have a
uniform setback with lawns and gardens in front. The appearance of the district
has not greatly changed from the period during which it achieved significance,
1890 to 1938. The original residential neighborhood has seen a transition to
professional office use and to multiple residential use in the larger dwellings,
but for the most part these changes have not altered the appearance of the area.

The Fort Street Historic District is bounded on the south by the main commercial
district of downtown Boise and on the west by commercial development along North
Sixteenth Street. The Harrison Boulevard Historic District lies to the northwest
with an area of modest dwellings of recent date separating it from the Fort Street
district. To the northwest the numbered streets and the cross streets which angle
off at Fort Street are narrower and more closely lined with modest dwellings that
the spacious streets of the original townsite. The eastern boundary of the dis-
trict was established by an increasing proportion of large contemporary office
buildings which have distinctly altered the residential character of the neighbor-
hood.

The general condition of the buildings in the district is good, although some of
the structures have been allowed to deteriorate since they became rental prop-
erties and multi-family dwellings. The nomination process has created consider-
able interest in restoration and rehabilitation, however, and property owners are
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Verbal boundary description and justification

See continuation sheet.

List all states and counties for properties overlapping state or county boundaries

state N/A code N/A county N/A code N/A

state N/A code N/A county N/A code N/A

11. Form Prepared By

name/title Susanne Lichtenstein, Architectural Historian

organization Idaho State Historical Society date 29 September 1982
street & number 610 North Julia Davis Drive telephone  (208) 334-3356

city or town Boise state Idaho 83702-7695

12. State Historic Preservation Officer Certification

The evaluated significance of this property within the state is:

____ nationai ____ state X |ocal

As the designated State Historic Preservation Officer for the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (Public Law 89—
665), i hereby nominate this property for inclusion in the National Register and certify that it has been evaluated

according to the criteria and procedures set forth by the National Park Service. ‘
State Historic Preservation Officer signature W ZQJQ/Z/ZQ/

titte State Historic Preservation Officer date 30 September 1982




8. Significance

Period Areas of Significance—Check and justify below

__ prehistoric ___ archeology-prehistoric ____ community pianning ____ landscape architecture _____ religion

—1400-1499 ____ archeology-historic —___conservation — law ____science

— 1500-1599 ____ agricuiture —___economics — literature —_sculpture

___1600-1699 __X architecture —_ education —— military —__ social/

—_1700-1799 ___ art ___engineering —  music humanitarian

_X 1800-1899 ___ commerce —_ exploration/settiement ____ philosophy —_theater

_X 1900- ____communications — . industry ——_ poiitics/government ___ transportation
____invention —__ other (specity)

Speclfic dates 1890-1938 Bullder/Archltect Multiple (see inventory)

Statement of Significance (In one paragraph)

The Fort Street Historic District is an area of approximately 47 blocks lying pri-
marily within the original townsite of Boise City, platted in 1867. This primar-
ily residential section of the city, which contains a rich resource of buildings
in a wide variety of architectural styles, represents development during the years
1890 to 1940, when Boise maturated into a modern city from its modest frontier
origins. This historic district was home to influential politicians, successful
businessmen, and white- and blue collar workers. Apartment buildings, large resi-
dences, cottages, churches, and schools exist harmoniously side by side. In addi-
tion, the district contains a large number of buildings designed by the architec-
tural firm of Tourtellotte and Hummel, and this cross-section provides an evolu-
tionary record of the development of their work and changing architectural tastes.
This district provides a significant record of the growth of the city, its rich
diversity of architectural styles representing the changing tastes of an expanding
community, and its function as a diversified neighborhood integrating a wide range
of building types from mansions to modest tenant houses and apartment buildings,
schools, churches, and other public buildings, all of which reflect the social and
economic needs of the population.
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becoming increasingly aware of the historic and architectural assets of their
buildings.

In the case of the Fort Street Historic District the following criteria have been
used to help establish the contributory or non-contributory status of the build-
ings: the building may not have been altered to such a degree that the main clas-
sifying characteristics of its style are obscured, or its massing significantly
changed by addition; and buildings will generally be considered contributory when
alterations are made within period and represent an evolutionary process.

Changes in the following aspects of a building are of particular concern:

massing and roofline

scale

setback from the street

appropriateness of materials

fenestration (size, level, spacing)

detail and ornamentation (or lack of them)

texture of surfaces

Evaluation is made on the basis of the appropriateness of the change relative to
the original style of the building.

Synthetic siding materials are considered inappropriate when placed over original

surfaces except in cases where they do not significantly alter surface texture or
hide detail. The relative importance of each of these considerations varies from
style to style.
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INVENTORY :
NORTH FIFTH STREET
614 North Fifth Street Contributory

One and one-half story rectangular house built in frame with clapboard siding.
A large arched balcony is set in the half-story front dormer. The full-length
front porch is supported on turned pillars.

711 North Fifth Street Contributory
built ca. 1898

711 North Fifth Street is a one-story brick house with a

hipped roof and a large central gable sheltering an upstairs porch projecting at
the front. A porch with turned posts spans the facade. A central entry is flanked
by pairs of tall narrow windows. The upstairs porch openings are arched in this
late Queen Anne style dwelling with colonial revival style elements.

712 North Fifth Street Contributory |
built ca. 1920

The one-and-a-half-story frame bungalow at 712 North Fifth Street displays a
double street-facing gable with a porch to the right. A pair of small windows
flanks the chimney at the left side of the dwelling, and a band of windows is
seen spanning the porch.

714 North Fifth Street Contributory
built ca. 1920

714 North Fifth Street is a one-story frame bungalow with a slightly projecting
central entry porch, a symmetrical facade, and bands of windows. Wide eaves with
extended rafters and eaves brackets are additional bungalow features of this 1920s
house.

NORTH SIXTH STREET

611 North Sixth Street Contributory
built ca. 1906

611 North Sixth Street is a one-and-a-half-story frame dwelling with a broad
lateral gable and central gabled dormer. The compact massing and Symmetry of the
design show the influence of the colonial revival style while details such as an
angled bay window at the right side of the facade indicate the late Queen Anne.
The central entrance is sheltered by a steep hipped roof porch, part of which has
been enclosed to the left.
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INVENTORY (continued):
A
712/714/716 North Eighth Street Contributory 7
built 1908

This large multiple dwelling was designed in 1908 by the firm of Tourtellotte
and Hummel and was built as a mate to its neighbor to the north, 720/722 North
Eighth Street. The two-and-a-half-story stone, stucco and half-timber structure
is listed in the thematic group Tourtellotte and Hummel Architecture in Idaho.

720/722 North Eighth Street Contributory .
built 1908

720 and 722 North Eighth Street is a large two-and-a-half-story stone, stucco
and half-timber residence that was designed in 1908 by the architectural firm
of Tourtelotte and Hummel. The structure is included in the thematic group
Tourtellotte and Hummel Architecture in Idaho.

*

775 North Eighth Street Non-contributory

775 North Eighth Street is a two-story office building of textured concrete.
A broad cornice emphasizes the horizontal massing of the building, which also
displays tall narrow windows. - The contemporary style of the building and its
large size make it incompatible with the historic district.

807 North Eighth Street Contributory 27
built 1904

St. John's Cathedral at the corner of Hays and North Eighth Streets is a large

stone church built in 1904 by the architectural firm of Tourtellotte and
Hummel. The building is included in the thematic group Tourtellotte and Hummel

Architecture in Idaho.

815 North Eighth Street Contributory :5
built 1925

This two-story brick school has a flat roof and a low concrete basement. It
was designed by Tourtelotte and Hummel in 1925 and is included in the thematic
group Tourtelotte and Hummel Architecture in Idaho. N

818 North Eighth Street Non-Contributory +-

818 North Eighth Street is a one-story brick gas station with a flat roof and
large plate glass windows in the west and north sides of the building. The
building is not compatible with the character of the historic district, although
the scale and building materials are not obtrusive.
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INVENTORY (continued):

902 North Eighth Street Contributory f>
built 1907 and 1929

The one-story brick commercial building at 902 North Eighth Street was
originally designed by the architectural firm of Wayland and Fennell in 1907.
Since the later addition was designed by Tourtellotte and Hummel, the structure
is included in the Tourtellotte and Hummel Architecture in Idaho nomination.

NORTH NINTH STREET

515 North Ninth Street Contributory >
built 1936

515 North Ninth Street is the gymnasium for Boise High School designed in 1936
by Tourtellotte and Hummel and built as a WPA project by the Boise School
District. The two-story brick building is included in the thematic group
Tourtellotte and Hummel Architecture in Idaho.

612/624 North Ninth Street Contributory f?
built 1910

612/624 North Ninth Street is a two-story brick apartment house designed in
1910 by the architectural firm of Tourtellotte and Hummel for A.V. Eichelberger.
The building is included in the thematic group Tourtellotte and Hummel
Architecture in Idaho.

Central Christian Church Contributory
615 North Ninth Street 1
built 1910

The large brick church at 615 North Ninth Street was designed by New York
architect George W. Kramer and built in 1910. The main body of the building
consists of two large intersecting gables surmounted by a shallow octagonal
dome and drum. A one-story, angled, arched porch projects at the northeast
corner and the theme of the Romanesque arch is repeated in the two-story
stained glass windows in the north and east facades and in the several
entrances in the wings projecting to the south and west. A one-story, angled
corner bay is seen at the northwest corner of the building, and a two-story
gabled wing with a street-facing gable is noted to the south of the main body
of the building. Decorative brickwork emphasizes the arches and angles of
the building by providing contrast to the flat wall surfaces.
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INVENTORY (continued):
705 North Ninth Street Contributory 4

The large, handsome two-and-a-half-story stome residence at 705 North Ninth
Street was designed in 1918 for H.R. Neitzel by the architectural firm of
Tourtellotte and Hummel and is included in the thematic group, Tourtellotte
and Hummel Architecture in Idaho.

712 North Ninth Street Contributory ;
built 1904, 1909 addition

The large two-story frame dwelling at 712 North Ninth Street displays a
hipped roof with a gable at the intersecting at the center and a two-story
angled bay at the left side of the house. An enclosed porch wraps the house
to the left and at the second-floor level the corner of the house is rounded,
echoing the curve of the porch beneath. Governor D.W. Davis lived in the
house in 1919 while he was Governor of Idaho.

715 North Ninth Street Contributory
built 1903

The large two-story frame residence at 715 North Ninth Street was built in
1903 by Judge Charles F. Koelsch. A broad lateral gable is intersected on
the North Ninth Street facade by a large central gabled dormer. A one-story
pillared porch with ornamental pediments shelters the central entry and is
echoed by a similar structure on the Hays Street facade. The compact massing
indicates the colonial revival influence, while late Queen Anne elements are
found in the pent eaves in the gable ends, leaded glass transoms, overhangs,
and decorative use of siding.

804 North Ninth Street Contributory P
built 1904

804 North Ninth Street is the rectory for St. John's Cathederal, which is
directly to the west on the same block. The two-and-a-half-story brick and
half-timber residence was designed in 1904 by the architectural firm of
Tourtellotte and Hummel and is included in the thematic group Tourtellotte
and Hummel Architecture in Idaho.
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NORTH TENTH STREET

711 North Tenth Street Contributory
built ca. 1890

711 North Tenth Street is a two-story frame dwelling with vertical massing and
steep intersection gables. At the intersection of the two wings that make up

the main body of the house is a one-story gabled porch. Windows are placed
symmetrically in the gable ends and on the facade. The decorative, turned porch
posts and barge-boards of the main gables and porch are intricately carved in the
Eastlake decorative style.

801 North Tenth Street Contributory

801 North Tenth Street is a one-story brick building of recent construction.
Built on an L-shaped plan, the building has a low roof of intersecting gables
and windows set in regularly placed, shallow bays. While the style is not
characteristic of the historic district, the building is not obtrusive in scale
or design.

904 North Tenth Street Contributory /
built in 1904

The fine one-and-a-half-story Queen Anne cottage at 904 North Tenth Street

is of stone and frame construction with a multi-gabled roof and a square

tower with a pyramidal roof and finial. An angled bay window is seen at the left
of the facade with a gable with flared eaves projecting slightly above it.

The porch, which wraps to the right, displays a small pedimented portico with
paired columns., The asymmetrical massing, decorative shingles, irregular window
placement, and richness of contrasting surface materials are important Queen Anne
features of the house.
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INVENTORY (continued):

908 North Tenth Street Contributory |/
built 1904

908 North Tenth Street is a one-and-a-half-story frame cottage which displays
some characteristics of the late Queen Anne and colonial revival styles. The
hipped roof is intersected at the left side of the facade and at the right

of the house by gables. The roof sweeps down with flared eaves to shelter

a facade-spanning porch which displays squat columns with a rounded profile.
Although the massing of the house is compact and the columned porch adds a
classicizing symmetry, the details of eaves brackets, decorative shingles and
gable trim give a strong hint at the ornate Queen Anne style.

NORTH ELEVENTH STREET

809 North Eleventh Street Contributory /
built 1939-40

809 North Eleventh Street is a one-and-a-half-story frame and half-timber
dwelling with a steep gabled roof intersected at the right by a large gabled
dormer. A smaller one-story gable is seen at the left of the facade, and the
entrance is set beside this bay at the left of center. The gable ends display
a vertical half-timber pattern.

First United Methodist Church Compatible /
North Eleventh Street at Franmklin
built 1960

The First United Methodist Church at 1lth and Franklin Streets is a large
stone structure, which along with its chapel and ancillary buildings occupies
the entire 1100 block of Franklin and Hays Streets. Built in 1960 in a
contemporary Gothic revival style with art deco influence, the church displays
a stepped tower at the left of the facade with decorative corner and wall
buttresses to emphasize its height. The tower is surmounted by a spire of
tall, thin proportions. The facade contains a large single pointed-arched
entrance with triple doors and a stained glass rose window above. The plan
of the church is cruciform with pointed-arched windows in the nave and
transept end windows. The main decorative element of the church is derived
from the texture of the light-colored stone with modest Gothic references
seen in the wall and corner buttresses and pointed arches. The complex and
varied profile of the tower is the focal point of this large structure.
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INVENTORY (continued):

NORTH EIGHTH STREET

603 North Eighth Street Contributory /
built 1924

The one-story brick and stucco gas station at 603 North Eighth Street has a
simple rectangular plan with a left-of-center entry, corner display windows,
and two large garage doors at the right. The small size of the structure and
its long tenure as a neighborhood service station make this particular business
relatively unobtrusive in the context of the historic district.

607 North Eighth Street Contributory
built ca. 1900 /

607 North Eighth Street is a modest one-and-a-half-story frame late Queen Anne
style with a cross gable and an angled bay window at the front of the house,
set beneath wide pent eaves in the gable end. The entrance is at the left
side of the house, and decorative shingles are noted in the gable ends.

621 North Eighth Street Non-contributory -

The one-story commercial building at 621 North Eighth Street has a flat,

stepped roof-line and an entrance set at an angle in the corner of the building.
A large window is seen on the east facade, and several tall narrow windows

are noted on the north side of the stucco building. In style, the building

is not compatible with the residential character of the district, although

the scale is not obtrusive.

622 North Eighth Street Non-contributory )

622 North Eighth Street is a large gas station of recent construction. The
one-story plastic and metal structure is incompatible with the character of
the historic district.

703 North Eighth Street Non-contributory (7

The one-story brick office building at 703 North Eighth Street displays a
flat roof-line and L-shaped plan. Vertical entrance bays are the only break
in the horizontal lines of the structure. The contemporary style and large
size of the building make it incompatible with the residential character of
the historic district.

814 North Eighth Street Contributory

A one-story Mission Revival style house faced in stucco. The outset front porch
has round-arched openings.
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INVENTORY (continued):

NORTH SEVENTH STREET

611 and 615 North Seventh Street Contributory {

611 and 615 North Seventh Street are two-story brick apartment houses built

on the same plan. A bay projects at the right side of the facade and a porch

with paired pillars is set in the angle of the bay and the main body of the

house. A large window with a transom is seen at the right of the entrance

porch, and the flat roof-line is ornamented by decorative brickwork at the cornice.

731-733 North Seventh Street Non-Contributory

The one-story brick office building at 731/733 North Seventh Street is of
recent construction. The simple facade is marked only by long windows that
emphasize the horizontal lines of the building. The contemporary style and
size of the building make it incompatible with the residential character of
the surrounding streets.

809 North Seventh Street Contributory
built 1910

809 North Seventh Street is a large, two-and-a-half story box-type apartment
house built in 1910. The stone, brick, and half-timber structure has a hipped
roof with a central hipped-roofed dormer, extended roof rafters and a symmetrical
facade. A porch, which is recessed beneath a second-floor balcony, spans the
facade. The entrance is at the left side of the facade.

814 North Seventh Street Contributory |
built 1936

814 North Seventh Street is a large two-story apartment building with Tudor
Revival elements. The roof consists of a number of steep intersecting gables
in an asymmetrical arrangement. The first story is of stucco construction,
the second of frame, and the gable ends are of half-timber. A tall chimney
stack rises at the west side of the building between an enclosed, flat-roofed
porch and a shed-roofed dormer.

815 North Seventh Street Contributory
built 1914

The large two—and-a-half story brick and half-timber residence at 815 North
Seventh Street was built in 1914 as the parsonage for Emmanuel Lutheran Church
next door. A broad gable faces the street and a hipped roof porch spans the
facade. A small shed-roofed bay window at the left side of the house and wide
bracketed eaves with extended rafters are bungalow elements. The symmetrical
facade design is emphasized by the horizontal and vertical placement of the
half-timbers on the second story.
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INVENTORY (continued):
620 North Sixth Street Non-contributory

620 North Sixth Street is a two-story bffice building of tile and concrete con-
struction. A central entrance projects from the symmetrical facade. The wide
cornice emphasizes the horizontal lines of the building and is echoed in a con-
crete course which separates the basement story from the first.

709 North Sixth Street Contributory '
built 1905-07

709 North Sixth Street is a one-and-a-half story frame late Queen Anne cottage
with a lateral gable intersected at the left by a street-facing gable with eave
returns. A flat-roofed porch is set in the angle of the L formed by the two main
wings, and decorative shingles are seen in the gahle ends.

714 North Sixth Street Contributory

The modest one-and-a-half-story dwelling at 714 North Sixth Street has a one-
story L-shaped wing at the front and a two-story section with a street-facing
gable at the rear. The frame dwelling has an entrance at the intersection of the
L and irregular window placement.

802/806 North Sixth Street Contributory

802/806 North Sixth Street is a two-story frame multiple dwelling with a lateral
gable and entrances sheltered by flat-roofed porches. Symmetrical facade design,
weather boards, and shutters indicate modest colonial revival influence.

811 North Sixth Street . Contributory
built 1920

811 North Sixth Street is a one-and-a-half-story frame bungalow with a broad lat-
eral gable intersected at the right side of the facade by a street-facing gable.
The broad eaves are bracketed and display extended rafters. A band of windows

is seen on the facade to the left of the entrance at the left corner of the facade.
A shed-roofed bay window is seen at the right side of the structure.
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INVENTORY (continued):

NORTH TWELFTH STREET

512/514 North Twelfth Street Contributory
built 1912

In 1912 Dr. H.G. Patterson built this two-story brick apartment house at
512/514 North Twelfth Street. The west facade, which faces North Twelfth
Street, has four bays, each with an entry flanked by large single-light
sash windows. The window placement is echoed on the second floor and
decorative brickwork is seen at the cornice. A basement of coursed ashlar
is also noted.

916 North Twelfth Street Contributory
built 1903

The large one-and-a-half-story frame dwelling at 916 North Twelfth Street
displays a steep lateral gable roof with a large central dormer. A porch
wraps to the left with an enclosed section at the left side of the house.
Queen Anne elements are flared eaves on the main gable and dormer, eave
returns, and decorative shingles on the porch base and second story.

NORTH THIRTEENTH STREET

508 North Thirteenth Street Contributory
built ca. 1899

508 North Thirteenth Street is a one-story Queen Anne cottage of frame
construction. Multiple gables, asymmetrical massing, decorative shingles
in the gable ends, and stained glass in the transom of the window at the
right side of the facade are all features of the Queen Anne style. The
entrance at the left side of the building is set in a curved bay and is
sheltered by a steeply hipped-roofed porch with multiple columns.

509 North Thirteenth Street Contributory
built 1902

509 North Thirteenth Street is a one-and-a-half-story frame dwelling with a
simple steep street-facing gable and symmetrical facade design. A single
window is seen in the gable end with tall, narrow windows flanking the
entrance, which is marked by a gabled overdoor. The simplicity of the
structure places it with the vernacular residential building type common
in Boise at the turn of the century.
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INVENTORY (continued):

512 North Thirteenth Street Contributory !
built ca. 1899

The one-and-a-half-story stone and frame Queen Anne dwelling at 512 North
Thirteenth Street was built in 1899 by Boise lawyer R.H. Johnson. The
steep cross—-gabled roof displays flared eaves and a round tower at the
intersection of the gables. Beneath the tower an enclosed porch with
multi-light windows wraps the house to the left, and a one-story angled
bay window is seen at the left side of the house. Irregular window
placement, asymmetrical massing, and contrasting surface textures of
decorative shingles and stone are all Queen Anne features of this handsome
residence.

517 North Thirteenth Street Contributory J
built 1904

517 North Thirteenth Street is a one-and-a-half-story frame dwelling with
steep intersecting cross gables and broad pent eaves. A porch with an

arched entrance is recessed at the right side of the house, and a one-story
angled bay window is seen at the left side of the house. The large cross-
gabled roof is the dominant architectural feature of the dwelling and

recalls the Shingle Style, although the original surface materials have been
covered by large shingles on the second story and vertical wood siding on the
first.

518 North Thirteenth Street Contributory
built ca. 1899

518 North Thirteenth Street is a one—and-a-half-story stone and frame Queen

Anne residence with a lateral gable intersected at the front by a large

gabled dormer. At the left side of the house the roof sweeps down to

shelter an enclosed porch. A one-story bay window is seen at the left side
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